# ORIGINAL

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR SO 1996 CLER Ð

CURTIS DALE,	:
Petitioner,	:
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Respondent.	:
	/

.

CASE NO. 87,691

# INTITAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

		PAGE(S)
TABL	E OF CONTENTS	i
TABL	E OF CITATIONS	ii
I	PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
II	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2
III	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	3
IV	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	7

#### V ARGUMENT

, '

#### ISSUE PRESENTED/CERTIFIED QUESTION

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:		
Respondent,	:		

## INITIAL RRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an **appeal** from conviction at **jury** trial of armed robbery with a deadly weapon. All proceedings were **held** in Gadsden County before Circuit Judge William L. **Gary**.

On appeal, the First District Court affirmed but certified a question. <u>Dale v. State</u>, 669 So.2d 1112 (21 Fla.L.Weekly D683 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

The one-volume record on appeal will **be** referred to as "R" and the two volumes of transcripts as "T."

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Curtis Dale, was charged by information filed March 7, 1994, in Gadsden County, with armed robbery with **a** deadly weapon of Ina Bruton in the Flowers Bakery store (R 5).

October 7, petitioner moved in limine to prevent the state from offering evidence that he had escaped from **jail as** proof of consciousness of guilt (R 19); the motion **was** denied (T 5-22).

At trial October 13 and 14 before Judge Gary, petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (T 23-42,292). The jury found him guilty as charged (R 21).

December 14, the state filed notice of intent to seek enhanced penalty (R 22). The same day, Dale **was** sentenced to life in prison as an habitual offender, with credit for time served of 300 days, and \$255 court costs (R 25-30). His **pre**sumptive guidelines sentence was 83.7 to 139.5 months (6.9 to **11.6** years) in prison (R 32). January 5, 1995, the court entered a written habitual offender order (R 32-B).

Notice of appeal was timely filed January 10, 1995 (R 33).

-2-

#### III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, Curtis Dale, was convicted of robbing the Flowers Bakery store in Quincy, which is apparently just down the block from the police station, on February 16, 1994, just before 11:00 a.m. (T 46-48, 127).

Ina Bruton, the store manager, testified that a black guy came in and got a loaf of bread. When the cash drawer came open, the man said, "Get one of those bags [a plastic Flowers bag] and put all your money in it" (T 52). She kind of like froze. He said, "Hurry. Get the bag and put the money in it." He said, "I got a gun." He pulled his shirt back so she could see a part of something that was **black**, which she assumed was a gun. She asked if he wanted the ones, and he said "I want it all" (T 54-55).

She laid the money - \$137 - on the counter; he picked it up, backed away a step or two, and stopped. He asked if she had a phone and where it was. It was in the back room. He said, "Okay, don't you call anybody. You call anybody, I will be back." She said she would not call anybody. He walked to the door and stopped and said again, "I meant what I said. You call anybody, I will be back." Then he went out the door to the right (T 55-56).

When she was sure he was gone, she locked the doors and called the police (T 57-59). She was crying when she called, "I couldn't hardly talk I was so scared." The police arrived before she **got** off the phone. The man was between 5'8" and 6'

-3-

tall and weighed 185 to 190 pounds. He was in his late 20's or early 30's (T 59). He wore a white shirt with green, red and blue pinstripes and a baseball hat turned backwards (T 60). The police brought a man to the store (T 65). She asked the police to put the cap on him backwards, so she could "make sure" it was him (T 66). Bruton identified Dale as the robber (T 57).

On cross, Bruton said she thought the cap was dark, but it turned out to be white. She did not notice whether the man had a moustache or any marks or scars on his face (T 75).

Quincy Public Safety Officer Jeffrey Garrett Wiggins took a description of the robber from Bruton: dark complected black male, approximately 6' tall and 180 pounds, wearing a white shirt with dark colored stripes, and a dark baseball cap turned around backwards. He passed the description to all other units, so they could BOLO the area. (T 94-95).

Billy Walker and his nephew, John Shipp, approached one of the officers at the store, asked what had happened and what the robber was wearing (T 110-11). Walker told Investigator Corder that Dale had come to Walker's house between 11 and 12 that morning, changed clothes and left his clothes there. Curtis also looked in the phone book, but did not use the phone (T 121,T 231 et seq.). Walker knows Curtis personally, Walker lives about one-tenth of a mile from the Flowers Store (T 157). Walker did not see a gun or money (T 106-07, 124).

Officers took possession of the clothes at Walker's house

-4-

(T 112). Walker later found a gun under the bathroom sink and called the police to tell them. He also found a Flowers bag in the bathroom (T 113).

No fingerprints of value were found (T 130,143,192-97). Ridgeway Stone, an evidence technician, took possession of the air pistol found at Walker's house (T 137). The CO, cartridge was missing when he found it, as it is today (T 138).

Quincy Investigator Jim Corder stopped at the store for just a minute to get basic information from the clerk and then got back out and started looking around the area (T 152). He saw Dale on the street entering a housing project on foot. He was wearing black shorts, a white T-shirt and a black bandanna, which was not the clothing described by Bruton (T 155).

Corder identified the BB gun. It has no CO, cartridge and no BBs, but according to Corder, it looks like a real Beretta .9 mm handgun. The prosecutor asked about it having two names, Beretta and Daisy, the latter is a BB gun brand name. Bruton could not identify the gun (T 162). When they arrested Dale 20 to 25 minutes later, he had changed clothes again. They did not find any money on him (T 167-68). Dale is 6' tall and weighs 180 pounds (T 170).

Four witnesses testified concerning Dale's two escapes from jail. On May 11, 1994, Dale was transferred from the Gadsden County Jail to the Liberty County Jail. On June 28, he escaped from Liberty County, He was apprehended on 1-10 in Washington County on June 29. He was returned to the Gadsden

-5-

County Jail and escaped on the night of August 26. He was found in Leon County underneath a **bed** in a residence early the next morning, the 27th, and arrested (T 217-18, 223-29).

.

. •

### IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner, Curtis Dale, was convicted of armed robbery with a deadly weapon. The "weapon" in his possession was an unloaded BB gun. It is well-settled that a BB gun does not meet the statutory definition of a firearm. While in its ordinary usage, a BB gun is not a deadly weapon, it can become one, depending on the manner in which it is used. A non-firearm, indeed many household objects, can be classified as deadly weapons if they are used in a manner <u>likely</u> to cause death or great bodily harm.

As there was, however, no evidence Dale used the BB gun in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm, the **proof** was legally insufficient to sustain conviction of armed robbery. While it is true that the question of whether an object is a deadly weapon is ordinarily for the jury, this principle presumes that the requisite predicate has been laid. The predicate for the creation of a jury question is the introduction of substantial competent evidence from which the jury could find that Dale had used the BB gun as a deadly weapon. Absent such evidence, as here, the trial court erred in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal on the deadly weapon element, and the district court erred in affirming the conviction,

-7-

#### V ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED/CERTIFIED OUESTION

CAN A JURY PERMISSIBLY FIND A BB GUN TO BE A DEADLY WEAPON AND A DEFENDANT GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY WHEN THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE BB GUN WAS FOUND UNLOADED, WITHOUT A CO<sub>2</sub> CARTRIDGE, AND NO EVIDENCE WAS PRE-SENTED THAT THE BB GUN WAS LOADED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE, WHERE THE DEFENDANT STATED SIMPLY "I HAVE A GUN" DURING COMMIS-SION OF THE ROBBERY?

The issue in this case could **be** framed more simply as whether a BB gun - either loaded or unloaded - is a deadly weapon per se.

If it is a deadly weapon per se, then **proof** that petitioner Dale had a BB gun, without regard to how it was used or whether it was loaded, creates a jury question as to whether he committed armed robbery with a deadly weapon. If a BB gun is not a deadly weapon per se, then the state must prove it was actually used in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm.

Petitioner contends a BB gun - either loaded or unloaded is <u>not</u> a deadly weapon per se, and the state failed to prove he used it in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm, thus the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain his conviction of armed robbery with a deadly weapon. Petitioner further believes the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal below went awry because it treated the BB gun as a deadly weapon per se, when it is not.

The robber pulled back his shirt and showed the store

- 8 -

clerk, Ina Bruton, a black object in his waistband, which she believed to be a gun. He did not take the gun out, did not point it at her, did not threaten to shoot her. At trial, the state introduced an object it recovered along with the clothes which petitioner Curtis Dale had changed from at Billy Walker's house. The state believed this object to have been the "gun" shown to Bruton, although she could not identify it. It was an unloaded air-powered BB gun.

There is no question whether the air pistol is a firearm. It is not. It does not meet the statutory definition of firearm, because it does not expel a projectile by means of an explosive, § 790.001, Fla.Stat. The question here is whether the unloaded air pistol/BB gun meets the legal definition of a deadly weapon. Petitioner contends it does not, because it was not used or threatened to be used in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm.

It seems clear in Florida law that a firearm is a deadly weapon per se, regardless of whether it is operational or loaded, That means it is no defense to a charge of armed robbery or aggravated assault that the firearm was not loaded, or not operational. <u>See Watson v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 702 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), <u>approved in part</u>, 453 So.2d 810 (Fla. **1984);** <u>M.R.R.</u> <u>v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 983, 984 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Warren v.</u> <u>State</u>, 332 So.2d 361 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976); <u>Baas v. State</u>, 232 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970).

This is true because the statute defines **a** firearm as a

-9-

thing which is not only presently operable to expel a projectile by means of an explosive, but also a thing which is readily convertible to do so. § 790.001(6), Fla.Stat. An unloaded, but otherwise operable firearm, is readily convertible to expel a projectile. Even an inoperable firearm may nevertheless be readily convertible. The definitional section of chapter 790 was added in 1969, thus predating all of the cases cited above, except that the date of the offense in <u>Bass</u> (but not of the decision) predated the statute. Ch. 69-306, Laws of Florida.

It is also well-settled that an air-powered BB gun does not meet the statutory definition of firearm. See, e.g., Depasquale v. State, 438 So.2d 159 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Where the thing does not meet the statutory definition of firearm, the next question is whether it meets the definition of weapon. A weapon is defined as:

> any dirk, metallic knuckles, slungshot, billie, tear gas gun, chemical weapon or device, <u>or other deadly weapon</u> except a firearm or a common pocketknife. (emphasis added).

§ 790.001(13), Fla.Stat. (1993). The only item on this list which a BB gun might be is "other deadly weapon."

A "deadly weapon" has been defined thus:

Where the instrument used is not a firearm as statutorily defined, Florida courts also apply an objective test and look to the nature and actual use of the instrument and not to the subjective fear of the victim or intent of the perpetrator in determining whether the instrument is a deadly weapon for purposes of the aggravated assault statute. <u>M.R.R.</u>, <u>supra</u>, 411 So.2d at 984. The Second District Court put it this way:

A deadly weapon is defined as one <u>likely</u> to produce death or great bodily injury. An unloaded gun has been deemed to be a deadly weapon as a matter of fact, and as a matter of law. However, if the instrument used is not a gun, Florida courts apply an objective test and look only to the nature and actual use **of** the instrument, even where fear on the part of the victim is an element of the crime. (emphasis added; cites omitted)

<u>Heston v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); <u>see also</u> <u>Goswick v. State</u>, 143 So.2d 817,820 (Fla, 1962).

The law is clear that **a** toy gun **or** a fake gun is not a firearm within the meaning of the robbery statute, even **if** it is threatened to be used to shoot the victim. <u>See Paul v.</u> <u>State</u>, 421 So.2d 696 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982) (toy gun). Thus, in <u>McCrav v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), where the robber **pointed** a cigarette lighter shaped like a gun at the victim as if it were **a** firearm, this court held the fake gun not to be a weapon.

Since it does not meet the statutory definition of firearm, nor the legal definition of a deadly weapon, a starter pistol, not readily convertible to expel a projectile, is treated the same as a fake gun. Thus, in <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), <u>quashed on other grounds</u>, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993), the First District held that, since the starter pistol was used only as a fake gun, and not as **a** bludgeon, it was not a weapon at all. Thus, the court reduced

-11-

Brooks' armed robbery conviction to simple robbery. <u>See also</u> <u>Ridley v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 188 (Fla. 5th DCA **1983).** A toy or fake gun could be found to be a weapon, but only if it were used **as** a weapon, that is, as a bludgeon. For example, <u>Gomez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 982 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), involved a toy gun, but the robbery with a non-deadly weapon conviction was sustained, because the robber had used the toy gun to strike the victim.

In <u>M.R.R.</u>, the defendant used a starter gun, which was not designed to fire a projectile. The court held it was the state's burden to prove either that it could expel a projectile, or could be readily converted to do so, citing <u>M.M. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 391 So.2d 366 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), <u>review denied</u>, **411** So.2d **384** (Fla. **1984)**. The state failed to introduce any evidence on this issue. The court held:

Because the state failed to prove that the "fake gun" in this case was a deadly weapon either because it was a firearm as statutorily defined and thus was a deadly weapon per **se**, or because it was in fact used as a deadly weapon, the finding that the instrument was a deadly weapon cannot stand.

411 So.2d at 985.

Petitioner contends that <u>Bates v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), is factually similar to and legally dispositive of his own case. Bates approached a convenience store clerk with an object covered by a rag, said he had a ".22" [sic] and demanded she give him money. The clerk did not see the object, the state did not find a gun, and following his

-12-

arrest, Bates admitted the object under the rag was a nutdriver. The district court reduced his conviction from armed robbery to simple robbery, because the nutdriver was not a deadly weapon. That is, it was not used in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm.

Bates quoted the definition in Depasquale:

A "deadly weapon" has been **defined** as "any instrument that, when <u>used in the ordinary</u> <u>manner</u> contemplated by <u>its design and con-</u> <u>struction, will or is likely to cause death</u> <u>or great bodily harm.</u>" (emphases added)

561 So.2d at 1341, quoting <u>Depasquale</u>, 438 So.2d at 160. The court continued:

[a]n object becomes a deadly weapon if its sole modern use is to cause great bodily harm.

Bates, quoting Robinson v. State, 547 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

The court held that Bates had neither used nor threatened to use the nutdriver in a violent way. "He merely stated that it was a gun he was holding." The court said a nutdriver, when used for its designed purpose, would not cause death or great bodily harm. The court also said, however, that this result was dependent on the manner in which Bates used the nutdriver. Had he threatened to use it as a bludgeon, that could have resulted in death or great bodily harm, and he could have been convicted of first-degree robbery therefor. The district court opinion below did not cite or distinguish <u>Bates</u>.

Similarly to <u>Pates</u>, in <u>Robinson</u>, the district court held

-13-

that a single-edge razor blade found in the defendant's pocket was not a concealed weapon, because it was not being used in a manner likely to cause death or great bodily harm. 547 So,2d at 323.

The cases just cited all involve known objects, which did not meet the statutory definition of firearm or the legal definition of a deadly weapon. Another group of cases involves unidentified objects, which may or may not be firearms. The resolution of these cases depends on what evidence was introduced to prove whether they were real firearms. In general, the rule appears to be that an object which appears to be or could be a firearm, coupled with a threat to use the object as a firearm, constitutes prima facie evidence that it is a firearm. Any claim that the apparent firearm was not in fact a firearm is treated essentially as an affirmative defense.

For example, in <u>T.T. v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the robber held an object that appeared to be a gun, threatened **to** shoot and to blow out the victims' brains. This court upheld the armed robbery convictions, but distinguished <u>McCray</u> (cigarette lighter shaped like gun) based on the additional evidence of the defendant's threats. That additional evidence, the First District held, meant there was more than a merely subjective belief of the victim that the object was **a** firearm.

Although the T.T. opinion did not put it this way, its reasoning appears to be that the gun-like appearance of the

-14-

object was circumstantial evidence that it was a firearm, but such circumstantial evidence was consistent with the possibility the gun was a fake. The defendant's threats to **blow** out the victims' brain, however, was inconsistent with the possibility the gun was **fake**, since a fake gun cannot do this. Thus, assuming no direct evidence proves the object to be a gun or not, gun-like appearance, coupled with a threat that is inconsistent with the gun being fake, is sufficient evidence that the object was a firearm. This appears to be an accurate statement of the law.

In <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 476 So.2d **1346** (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1985), the victim testified the robber displayed what appeared to be a .22 pistol. The defendants claimed it was a "blank gun." The First District distinguished <u>McCray</u> (cigarette lighter gun) and <u>M.M.</u>, <u>supra</u> (starterpistol) as follows:

> However, in neither case did the perpetrators threaten to use their ersatz gun against the victim in a **way** likely to inflict great bodily harm.

This case is more like <u>T.T.</u> [supra], wherein two separate threats to shoot robbery victims with "an object which <u>appeared to</u> <u>be a gun</u>" were held to be sufficient circumstantial evidence to conclude that the defendant had used a firearm. . . Here, the appellants threatened to shoot the cashier twice in the store and a third death threat was made after the sexual batteries. Given these circumstances, the jury could have reasonably concluded that the object used **by** appellants was a firearm.

476 So.2d at 1348.

It is not self-evident, however, that a robber's claim to

have a gun should constitute evidence a gun was carried absent actual evidence of a gun. As the First District observed in Butler:

> Robbers commonly merely imply the possession of a weapon in order to bolster their threat. [However,t]hat implication cannot amount to proof of the possession.

Butler v. State, 602 So.2d 1303, 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), quoting <u>Ryder v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1324, 1325 (Fla. 5th **DCA** 1985). It is not clear that verbally pretending to have a gun should count as evidence of an actual gun when non-verbal pretending does not. There is no need to reach the issue in this case, however, as there is no evidence that Dale made any verbal claim or threat implying the gun he held was real. He said only, "I got a gun."

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