IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 28 1996

CLIERK, BUPREME COURT
By ______
Chief Deputy Glerk

CURTIS DALE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,691

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

JEAN-JACQUES DARIUS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0997780

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, CURTIS DALE, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or his proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of the trial court's proceedings; "IB" will designate the Initial Brief of Petitioner. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State finds the petitioner's statement of the case and facts to be generally supported by the record; however, the State

notes that the relevant facts are set out in the district court's opinion. Dale v. State, 669 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

٠

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the petitioner's conviction and sentence for armed robbery with a deadly weapon, but asks this Court to answer whether under the circumstances of the instant case, the jury may find that the BB gun was a deadly weapon. The petitioner argues that the State failed to prove that the BB qun was actually used as a deadly weapon. The petitioner was properly convicted and sentenced, and this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. Whether a BB gun is a firearm, was not an issue below, and the appropriate inquiry is whether the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding that the BB gun of the instant case constituted a deadly weapon. A BB gun constitutes a weapon as contemplated by Florida statutes, and the appellant's use of the BB gun during the commission of the robbery constituted armed robbery in the first degree. This Court should also affirm the petitioner's conviction and sentence because the State presented substantial, competent evidence to support the jury's verdict.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED/CERTIFIED OUESTION

CAN A JURY PERMISSIBLY FIND A BB GUN TO BE A DEADLY WEAPON AND A DEFENDANT GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY WHEN THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE BB GUN WAS FOUND UNLOADED, WITHOUT A CO2 CARTRIDGE, AND NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED THAT THE BB GUN WAS LOADED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE, WHERE THE DEFENDANT STATED SIMPLY 'I HAVE A GUN' DURING THE COMMISSION OF THE ROBBERY?

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the petitioner's conviction and sentence for armed robbery with a deadly weapon, but asks this Court to answer whether under the circumstances of the instant case, the jury may find that the BB gun was a deadly weapon. The petitioner suggests that this Court should address whether a BB gun is a deadly weapon per se. Such alteration of the question confuses the issue, and would require this Court to respond to hypotheses. Moreover, various district courts have already settled the issue by finding that whether an air or gas operated gun will be classified as a deadly weapon is a question for the jury. <u>Gooch v. State</u>, 652 So. 2d 1189, 1191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); accord Duba v. State, 446 So.2d 1167, 1169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (holding "whether or not an object [inoperative air pistol] is a deadly weapon is a question of fact to be determined by the jury from the evidence, taking into consideration its size, shape and material and the manner in which it was used or was capable of being used.") Thus, this Court should only address the certified question.

Deadly weapon.

The appellant concedes the issue of sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of robbery; however, he argues that his crime was impermissibly aggravated because the BB gun failed to meet the definition of a firearm, and that the State failed to prove that the BB gun was actually used as a deadly weapon. The State asserts that the appellant was properly convicted and sentenced. Section 812.13(2)(a) provides:

If in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, then the robbery is a felony in the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term not exceeding life imprisonment. . . .

§812.13(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). The petitioner vehemently argues that the BB gun is not a firearm. The State asserts that whether a BB gun is a firearm is not at issue because the information charged the petitioner with committing the robbery while carrying a deadly weapon to wit an [BB gun] air pistol (R 5), and the jury was instructed "that the state was required to prove [Petitioner] Dale used a 'deadly weapon,' which was defined as a weapon used or threatened to be used in a way likely to

produce death or great bodily harm." (T 284); <u>Dale</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1113. Hence, a firearm was not an issue below, and the appropriate inquiry is whether the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding that the BB gun of the instant case constituted a deadly weapon.

Section 790.001 defines "Weapon" as "any dirk, metallic knuckles, slingshot, billie, tear gas gun, chemical weapon or device, or other deadly weapon except a firearm or a common knife." (Emphasis added). In the Interest of W.M., 491 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) the district court provided that "[a] weapon is a 'deadly weapon' if it is used or threatened to be used in a way likely to produce death or great bodily harm. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) P. 88." Id. 1264.

The petitioner properly began his analysis by quoting a reasonable definition of a deadly weapon, but disregarded that definition to seek support for his claim of error in the penumbra of inapplicable facts. The petitioner cited a series of cases that stand for the premise that objects designed for ordinary uses are not deadly weapons under §812.13(2)(a), unless there is evidence that they were used as bludgeons or in manners likely to cause death or great bodily harm. Riddley v. State, 441 So.2d 188 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Paul v. State, 421 So.2d 696 (Fla. 2d DCA

1982); M.R.R. v. State, **411** So. 2d **983** (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); McCray v. State, **358** So. 2d **615** (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Gomez v. State, **496** So. 2d 982 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Brooks v. State, **605** So. 2d **874** (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), quashed on other grounds, **630** So. 2d **527** (Fla. 1993); Bates v. State, 561 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Indeed, Pates provides:

A 'deadly weapon has been defined as any instrument that, when used in the ordinary manner contemplated by its design and construction, will or is likely to cause death or great bodily harm." Depasquale v. State, 438 So.2d 159, 160 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983. Moreover, "[a]n object becomes a deadly weapon if its sole modern use is to cause great bodily harm." Robinson v. State, 547 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

Id.

In the instant case, the BB gun is designed to shoot lead shots or pellets that are .18 inches in diameter. WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 189 (3d ed. 1981). The instant gun could fire either with or without a CO2 cartridge (T 161), and when it is used in the ordinary manner contemplated by its design and construction, it will or is likely to cause great bodily harm or death. See Duba v. State, 446 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (whether an air pistol is a deadly weapon is a jury question, and whether an object is a deadly weapon depends on the manner in which it was used or capable of being used.) Accord Lynn v.

State, 567 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (a defendant who threatened to use a gun, which turned out to be an inoperable BB gun, was properly convicted of robbery with a deadly weapon);

Gooch v. State, 652 So.2d 1189 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Accordingly,

"a BB gun constitutes a weapon as contemplated by sections

812.13(2) (a) and 790.001(13)," and "the appellant's use of the BB gun during the commission of the robbery constituted armed robbery in the first degree." DePasquale v. State, 438 So.2d 159, 160 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); U.S. v. Koonce, 991 F.2d 693, 698 (11th Cir. 1993) (holding that BB gun that looks like a firearm and is perceived by the victim of a robbery to be such, is a dangerous weapon.) (Emphasis added).

Additionally, §790.022, Fla. Stat. (1993), which prohibits the unsupervised use of BB guns, air or gas-operated guns, or electric weapons by a minor under the age of 16 years, clearly indicates the legislative intent to treat the BB gun as a weapon.

See also Rodriguez v. Esquijarosa, 391 So.2d 334 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (the act of pumping a BB gun for a seven-year-old, who shot and injured another, is an actionable negligent act).

The petitioner's argument is inconsistent and without merit; he cites the principle enunciated in the applicable cases, but attempts to distinguish them or declares them to be erroneous

where the courts ruled against his position. For example, he relies on <u>DePasquale</u> (IB 10, 13), but respectfully declares that the case is illogical and wrongly decided. (IB 20). He finds the First DCA's determination that <u>Lynn v. State</u>, 567 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) is on point to be awry, and attempted to distinguish it on the fact that the defendant in <u>Lynn</u> was more explicit with his threat (ie. "Hurry up or he would 'blow [the cashier's] . . . brains out.'") Id. 1044; (IB 18). Contrary to the petitioner's assertion, the facts in <u>Lynn</u> are similar to those of the instant case, if not identical. <u>See also Duba</u>, supra.

In Lynn, the defendant was robbing a Red Lobster restaurant; as the cashier was responding to his instructions, he "lifted his shirt to reveal a handgun wedged in his trousers and told the cashier to hurry up or he would 'blow [the cashier's] . . . brains out.'" Id. 1044. Shortly thereafter, the police recovered a non-operational (BB gun) air pellet pistol because it did not have a CO2 cartridge, the barrel was jammed, and a witness testified that the gun never worked. Id. 1044-5. The district court found that for purposes of classification as a deadly weapon, a pellet pistol discharges pellets through use of air pressure, and is 'capable of causing death or injury." Id. 1044.

The district court also found that whether the pistol was operational at the time of the crime was properly submitted to the jury because an expert was able to dislodge the jammed pellet and make it work. <u>Id.</u> 1045. The district court affirmed the jury's determination that the pellet gun was a deadly weapon. <u>Id.</u>

The petitioner argues that even if a BB gun could qualify as deadly weapon, the instant BB gun was not a deadly weapon because it was not loaded, or used as a "bludgeon." He concluded that his use of the BB gun was similar to the use of "a shoe or a grapefruit." (IB 22). This conclusion or analogy is perplexing when the petitioner defines a deadly weapon as an instrument that will or is likely to cause death or great bodily harm, when used in the ordinary manner contemplated by its construction or design. (IB 13). The State will not address the use contemplated for a grapefruit, but will assert that a BB gun is designed or constructed to fire a lead pellet of .18 inches in diameter at a target¹, contemplating damaging or destroying the target. Moreover, the legislature's banning of unsupervised "[u]se of BB guns, air or gas-operated guns, or electric weapons or devices by minor(s) under 16," is a clear indication that the legislature

^{&#}x27;Whether a living or non-living thing.

views the BB gun as likely to cause great bodily harm or death. §790,22, Fla. Stat. (1993).

In <u>Bentley V. State</u>, 501 **So.2d 600** (Fla. **1987)**, the supreme court stated:

[W]e hold that the display of an unloaded firearm, without proof of readily available ammunition, invokes the three-year minimum mandatory sentence. In Watson v. State, 437 So.2d 702 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), approved in part, disapproved in part, 453 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1984), the court found that the legislature did not intend to require a finding that a handgun be operational in order to uphold conviction of robbery with a firearm because of concerns about the perception of the victim. (Citation omitted),

Id. 602. Accord Bass v. State, 232 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970) reasoning that

[W] hen one is confronted by another with a gun and does not know it to be unloaded, the natural reaction is to assume that the gun can be fired and can inflict great bodily harm. . . (W) hether the weapon is to be classified as "deadly" is a factual question to be resolved by the jury.

Id. 27. See also Jackson v. State, 662 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) ("one may be convicted of armed robbery with a deadly weapon if he or she is carrying the weapon at the time of the robbery, regardless of whether the weapon is used.")

Turning to the instant case, although the issue of a firearm is not applicable, this Court's reasoning in Bentley, supra,

remains compelling. The Court adopted the Fourth DCA's finding that "the legislature did not intend to require a finding that a handgun be operational in order to uphold conviction of robbery with a firearm because of concerns about the perception of the victim." Id. 602. Indeed, in the instant case, the victim was not fully acquiescing to the petitioner's orders, until he said "I got a gun" while pulling 'his shirt back so she could see a part of something that was black, which she assumed was a gun." Had the petitioner say that he had a "shoe" or a "grapefruit," the victim's perception would be irrelevant, but here, the petitioner successfully completed the robbery using the threat of the gun that he was carrying. Whether loaded or unloaded, the petitioner used the BB gun to threaten or imply serious bodily harm or deadly force.

Moreover, the fact that the BB gun was found unloaded, does not necessarily mean that it was unloaded when it was used in the robbery. The State presented evidence that the gun was operational and could be fired even without a CO2 cartridge, that the petitioner said he had a gun, and displayed to the victim what appeared to be a gun. Therefore, whether the BB gun was a deadly weapon under these circumstances, was a question of fact properly submitted to the jury, which found the Petitioner guilty

of robbery with a deadly weapon. <u>See Lynn</u>, <u>supra</u>. Hence, the trial court did not err in denying the Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal on that issue.

Although both the trial court and the district court found that the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's verdict, the certified question appears to leave this Court as the final arbiter of that issue. The State begins by noting that the record on appeal does not indicate that the petitioner filed a motion to arrest judgment or for a new trial.

When a motion for a new trial is untimely the case stands as though no motion for a new trial had been made at all^2 . It is therefore obviously not error for the trial judge to deny a motion which in legal contemplation was never made.

Hogwood v. State, 175 So.2d 817, 818 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965) (footnote renumbered).

However, if this Court's addresses the issue whether the evidence was sufficient for the jury to permissibly find the petitioner guilty on the issue of carrying a deadly weapon during the robbery, the standard of review is provided in <u>Tibbs y.</u>

State, 397 So.2d 1120 (1981), <u>affirmed 457 U.S. 963, 102 S.Ct.</u>,
72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982).

²McLendo v State, 90 Fla. 272, 105 So. 406 (1925).

As a general principle, an appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to a jury or a trier of fact. Rather the concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal.

Id. 1123 (citations omitted). See also Worden v. State, 603 So.2d 581 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) ("[o]nce the jury has made its determination it will not be reversed on appeal if there is competent, substantial evidence to support it.") See Lynn, supra at 1045 (evidence that the defendant indicated that he had a gun, move his shirt to show a gun wedged in his pants, which turned out to be a jammed BB gun without a cartridge that an expert rendered operational, was competent, substantial evidence to support a jury finding that the gun was a deadly weapon.)

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